FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

OCT 6 1994
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: 84,318

HAROLD LEONARD GRINAGE, Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WESLEY HEIDT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR #773026
FIRST UNION TOWER
FIFTH FLOOR
444 SEABREEZE BLVD.
DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF CASE

The Respondent in this case was charged with the offenses of attempted first degree murder of a law enforcement officer and attempted robbery with a deadly weapon. (R 120-122). A jury found him guilty as charged, and the Defendant was sentenced on the 14th of June 1993, to life in prison including a minimum mandatory of twenty-five years for the attempted murder charge as well as a concurrent sentence of twelve years prison for the attempted robbery. (T 58-59, 705-706, R 259-260, 285-289).

The Defendant filed a direct appeal raising four issues; however, only one of these was addressed by Fifth District Court. The Defendant submitted in his brief that the trial court had committed reversible error by instructing the jury that the State was not required to prove that the Defendant knew that the victim was a law enforcement officer at the time of the attack. The Fifth District Court of Appeal agreed with this argument and had additional concerns about this causing it to certify the following three questions to this Court:

- 1. IS SECTION 782.04(1)(a)(2) A PROPER VEHICLE FOR FILING A CHARGE OF ATTEMPTED MURDER OF A POLICE OFFICER ENGAGED IN THE LAWFUL PERFORMANCE OF HIS DUTY?
- 2. IF SO, CAN THE PROOF OF A NECESSARY ELEMENT OF THE UNDERLYING QUALIFYING FELONY ALSO CONSTITUTE THE OVERT ACT NECESSARY TO PROVE THE

¹In this brief the Respondent will referred to as either the Respondent or the Defendant, and the Petitioner will referred to as the State. Additionally, "R" will used for cites to the record on appeal, and "T" will used for cites to the trial transcripts.

ATTEMPTED (FELONY) MURDER OF A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER ENGAGED IN THE LAWFUL PERFORMANCE OF HIS DUTY?

IF SECTION 782.04(1)(a)2 IS AN APPROPRIATE VEHICLE FOR THE CHARGE AND IF AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT CAN ALSO SERVE AS THE NECESSARY OVERT ACT, ARE ALLEGATIONS IN THE INFORMATION WHICH MERELY ALLEGE THE OFFENSE OF AGGRAVATED ASSAULT OF A POLICE OFFICER ENGAGED IN THE LAWFUL PERFORMANCE OF HIS DUTIES, WHICH ASSAULT TOOK PLACE DURING AN ATTEMPTED ROBBERY, SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN A CONVICTION FOR FIRST-DEGREE FELONY MURDER?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The charges in this case arose from an undercover drug operation which occurred on the 10th of February 1992. (T 167-171, 207-209). Orange County Sheriff's Deputy Kelly Boaz arranged to buy 400 dollars worth of cocaine from the Defendant. The Defendant met the deputy in a parking lot and got into the officer's car. 180-185, 241-242). The Defendant pulled out what was described by one officer as a six inch, double edge, boot knife, and threatened (T 276, 568, 579). The Defendant at this point the deputy. grabbed him and attempted to stab him, only being stopped by the fact that the officer blocked the knife. (T 193-196, 203, 214). The deputy's hand was cut while protecting himself. (T 193, 197, 205, 210-212, 214, 218-219). A six-officer team was monitoring the operation in case trouble arose, and they responded when the attack occurred. (T 173-180, 200, 240, 242, 265). After some struggle, the Defendant was subdued. (T 198-199, 215, 224-225, 237, 245-252, 272, 379, 400, 404).

During the trial the Defendant admitted that he agreed to meet Boaz, but he had no drugs so he decided to rob the deputy. (T 325, 328-329, 562-564, 571, 575, 578). He testified that while he was preparing to leave to meet Boaz he put on his jacket, and it had a knife in it. (T 558-559). However, he did not know how the knife got in his jacket. (T 558-559). The Defendant got inside the deputy's car, pulled a knife, and "with my hand wrapped around his neck" demanded the money. (T 567-568). This was admitted to by the Defendant both during a taped statement and during his

testimony at trial.

Officer McCann who took the Defendant's taped statement testified that the Defendant stated that while he put his arm around Boaz's head he did not have him in a headlock. During his taped statement, the Defendant responded to the question of whether the knife was his by stating that it was his if his fingerprints were on it but it was not his if they were not. 325). Also, during this taped statement, the Defendant called the weapon a butter knife despite an officer's description of it as a six inch, double edge, boot knife. (T 572, 276). The Defendant also admitted that Deputy Boaz repeatedly asked the Defendant not to stab him. (T 568, 579). The Defendant stated that after he placed the victim in a headlock Deputy Boaz placed the money down, and he reached to get it. (T 568,587). While admitting to attempting to rob Deputy Boaz, the Defendant denied getting over the top of the officer and trying to stab him. (T 585).

Officer Dilts who had been with the Sheriff's office thirteen years stated that when he pulled up in his car he saw the Defendant leaning over Boaz, Boaz's hands were in the air above the seat, and the two were struggling. (T 246). Dilts also stated that after the Defendant was dragged out of the car Deputy Boaz came around from the other side of the car holding his bleeding hand and yelling that the Defendant had tried to kill him. (T 252).

Officer Winsett was monitoring the transmitter and heard Boaz pleading for the Defendant to not stab him and telling the Defendant just to take the money. (T 269). He also testified that

when he responded to the scene he saw the Defendant and Boaz struggling with the Defendant leaning over Boaz. (T 270-271). Further, like Dilts, Winsett saw Boaz bleeding and holding his wrist. (T 273, 287).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue presented to the both the trial court and the appellate court in this case was whether the State would have to prove the Defendant's knowledge of the victim's status as a law enforcement officer. However, numerous other issues were addressed in the opinion by the Fifth District Court ultimately leading to a challenge of the very existence of "attempted felony murder."

Just like which a killing occurs and the defendant is committing a felony the courts eliminate any intent requirement as to the homicide, intent is a non-issue when someone commits an act which could have caused death, but we are fortunate enough that none occurred. This is attempted felony murder.

In this case the added point exists that the victim was a law enforcement officer. The Legislature has clearly shown its intention to increase the penalty whenever someone attempts to murder a law enforcement officer regardless of if the defendant is aware of the victim's job. The defendant is being subjected to strict liability for his actions. Such a penalty is at the legislature's discretion to impose.

ARGUMENT

POINT OF LAW

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT INSTRUCTED THE JURY THAT THE STATE DID NOT HAVE TO PROVE THAT THE DEFENDANT KNEW THAT THE VICTIM WAS A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER SINCE THAT IS THE CORRECT APPLICATION OF BOTH THE RELEVANT STATUTORY AND CASE LAW.

The opinion by the Fifth District Court raised numerous issues many of which were not presented below by either side. In order to address these concerns, a historical overview of attempted felony murder would be helpful.²

The crime of felony murder historically could be defined as any homicide committed during the perpetration of any felony. Such a crime dates back into the early common law and has always existed in Florida. See, Adams v. State, 341 So. 2d 765 (Fla. 1976), LaFave, Criminal Law, 2d. Ed. (1986). The state of mind or the intent of the defendant is immaterial because the death is caused while the defendant is committing or attempting to commit a felony. In Florida there are different degrees of felony murder. See, \$782.04, Fla. Stat. (1993). The offense of first degree murder is committed when the defendant has the premeditated design to effect the death of the person killed or when the unlawful killing results during one of the enumerated felonies listed in the statute. See,

²The State feels forced to take such an approach. In addition to addressing the difficult issue before it, the Fifth's opinion also takes the opportunity to question the very existence of "attempted felony murder." Without the offense of "attempted felony murder," the State's cannot possibly defend "attempted felony murder of a law enforcement officer."

§782.04(1)(a)1,2, Fla. Stat. (1993).

The offense of attempted felony murder was officially recognized by the Florida Supreme Court in the case of Amlotte v. State, 456 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1984). This Court agreed with the Fifth District that such an offense exists in Florida. Both the Fifth and this Court cited the case of Fleming v. State, 374 So. 2d 954 (Fla. 1979). In that case this Court noted

Accordingly, the offense of attempted first degree murder requires a premeditated design to effect death. In cases where the alleged "attempt" occurs during the commission of a felony, however, the law presumes the existence of premeditation, just as it does under the felony murder rule.

Id. at 956.

Therefore, the offense was addressed when Fleming was decided in 1979 and reaffirmed when Amlotte was decided in 1984. However, the majority opinion in the Fifth is uncomfortable with such an offense despite the direct affirmative answer to the question certified in Amlotte of whether there exists in Florida the offense of attempted felony murder. Justice Overton's dissent which is cited by the majority adopted the dissenting opinion of Judge Cowart in the lower court opinion. See, Amlotte v. State, 435 So. 2d 249, at 253 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). Judge Cowart discussed the problem he had with the concept of "attempted" felony murder without any intent requirement. Id. at 253. He was troubled by the fact that every attempt included the specific intent to commit the crime except "attempted felony murder". He submitted that one

would have be found guilty of attempting to commit a crime attempted murder - without ever intending to commit the crime.³

Judge Cowart is correct that "attempted felony murder" is a unique
crime and is an exception to the general "attempt" offense.

However, this only makes the offense true to its origin. The
general definition of first degree murder assumes the existence of
"premeditation." Only when the death occurs during a felony
enumerated in the statute do we have the exception to the
premeditation requirement.

The Defendant in this case was charged and convicted of attempted first degree felony murder of a law enforcement officer.

(R 120). The information read as follows:

[The Defendant] attempted to murder BOAZ, law enforcement a officer for the Orange Sheriff, while said KELLY BOAZ, was engaged in the lawful performance of an undercover his duty, to-wit: narcotics investigation, and furtherance of said attempt HAROLD LEONARD GRINAGE did grab KELLY BOAZ around the neck and did thrust a knife toward the chest or throat area of KELLY BOAZ, an act which could have caused the death of KELLY BOAZ, and which act occurred during the perpetration of an attempted robbery by HAROLD LEONARD GRINAGE of KELLY BOAZ.

(R 120) (emphasis added). The Standard Jury Instructions in

³Since it is the name "attempted felony murder" and specifically the "attempted" which causes part of this conceptual problem, perhaps "failed" or "unsuccessful" murder during a felony would be more logically acceptable.

Criminal Cases (93-1), 636 So. 2d 502 (Fla. 1994)⁴, provides as follows:

Before you can find the defendant guilty of Attempted First Degree Felony Murder, the State must prove the following two elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

- 1. a. [(Defendant) did some overt act, which could have caused the death of (victim), but did not.]
- 2. The act was committed as a consequence of and while
- a. [the defendant was engaged in the commission of (crime alleged).]
- b. [the defendant was attempting to commit (crime alleged).]

In order to convict of attempted first degree felony murder, it is not necessary for the State to prove that the defendant had a premeditated design or intent to kill.

The Defendant's actions in this case could easily be found to

The jury instructions given in this case were different than the ones listed since the trial occurred in April of 1993, which was before the new jury instructions were recommended to the Court. See, 636 So. 2d 502 (Fla. 1994); see also, the dissent in this case. However, it is the State's position that any jury instruction issue (other than one raised concerning the Defendant's knowledge that the victim was a law enforcement officer) were waived. See, Sochor v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2114, at 2120, (1992), Adams v. State, 630 So. 2d 641 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d).

In fact, the lower court stated that it spent close to an hour and a half drafting the instructions and had reworked the attempted first degree felony murder instruction at least three times. (T 599) (as noted by the Fifth's dissent, "an effort in which defense counsel appears on this record to have been utterly uninterested"). The court asked for objections and even stated that "the **sole** objection to the instructions" is the knowledge issue. (T 599) (emphasis added). The defense agreed.

have satisfied the requirements of proving the offense of "attempted felony murder." The Defendant in this case admitted to trying to rob the victim. (T 562-564, 571, 575). Robbery is one of the enumerated offenses qualifying the Defendant for felony murder. See, \$782.04(1)(a)2.d, Fla. Stat. (1993). Additionally, there was more than sufficient evidence presented by the State that the Defendant did some overt act (the stabbing) which could have caused the death of the deputy but did not.

However, this case does not end with "attempted felony murder." Only once we get to this point do we reach the issue which was presented on appeal to the Fifth which was what to do with §784.07(3) of the Florida Statutes (1991) which provides

(3) Notwithstanding the provisions of any other section, any person who is convicted of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty or who is convicted of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer when the motivation for such attempted was related, all or in part, to the lawful duties of the officer, shall be guilty of a life felony, punishable as provided in s. 775.0825.

(emphasis added). The immediately preceding section provides

(2) Whenever any person is charged with <u>knowingly</u> committing an assault or battery upon a law enforcement officer . . .

(emphasis added).

The Defendant argued that a defendant would have to have "knowledge" as to the status of his victim. The First District

Court of Appeal in case <u>Carpentier v. State</u>, 587 So 2d 1355 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <u>review denied</u>, 599 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1992), addressed the issue raised by the Defendant and specifically stated that it was not an element of section 784.07(3) that the defendant know that the victim is a law enforcement officer. <u>See also</u>, <u>Gantorius v. State</u>, 620 So 2d 268 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), <u>cause dismissed</u>, 593 So. 2d 1052 (Fla. 1992). <u>Carpentier</u> was cited to the lower court, and since no decision existed out of the Fifth District on this issue, the circuit court applied the controlling law. <u>See</u>, <u>Pardo v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 1992).

The State's position follows the court's ruling in <u>Carpentier</u>: that the Legislature's intent is clear that whenever a defendant attempts to murder an officer who is engaged in the lawful performance of his duty, a defendant is guilty of a life felony. Simply because this statute can create strict liability for a defendant who attempts to murder an officer does make the statute unconstitutional.⁵ The Legislature has the power to decide how certain offenses should be punished. <u>State v. Bailey</u>, 360 So. 2d 772 (Fla. 1978). In addition to the clarity of the words in the statute, the section immediately above the contested section specifically requires that the defendant knowingly assault or

⁵The State is aware that the Second District has held §784.07(3) unconstitutional as applied to the defendant in that case who had committed an attempted third degree murder of a law enforcement officer. See, Iacovone v. State, 639 So. 2d 1108 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). However, being convicted of attempted first degree murder, the Defendant in this case has no standing. See, Isaac v. State, 626 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), see also, Colquitt v. State, 588 So. 2d 49 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (finding no merit to the multiple constitutional claims raised by the defendant).

batter; whereas, the section at issue does not. The Legislature's intent was quite clear as was its use of words, and the statute does not require that the defendant know that his victim is a law enforcement officer.

As stated previously, the legislature has the power to decide how certain offenses are punished. The Florida Statutes are filled with numerous examples of how the "same" actions are classified as more severe crimes and a defendant's penalties increase whether or not he has knowledge about certain elements of the crime. For example, Fla. Stat. §893.135(1)(b)1. (1993), requires the defendant to have knowledge that the substance that he is possessing is cocaine; however, the weight of the cocaine itself subjects the defendant to strict liability as far as the penalty imposed. <u>Way</u> v. State, 475 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1985); Weisenberg v. State, 455 So. 2d 633 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). Therefore, based on the "same act" of trafficking in cocaine, a defendant's penalty can vary from a three year minimum mandatory to a fifteen year minimum mandatory based simply on the weight of the cocaine. See, §893.135(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1993); see also, L.C. v. State, 579 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), McMillian v. State, 566 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), Vaillant v. State, 490 So. 2d 1326 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) (these cases discuss the fact that a defendant is guilty of either felony grand theft or misdemeanor petit theft depending on the proven value to the property regardless of his knowledge of the value of the property).

Another example can be seen in section 794.021, Fla. Statutes

(1993), which deals with sexual battery. The statute provides that whenever the issue arises as to a victim being under a certain age the defendant cannot argue mistaken belief, ignorance, or even misrepresentation. See also, State v. Sorakrai, 543 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) (which applied the same requirement to section 800.04(2)). Much like in the statute at issue in this case, the defendant is held strictly liable for his actions and must take the victim as he or she exists. In fact, a defendant can be found guilty of a capital felony based on the victim's age regardless of how old the victim looks, whether he or she lied about his or her age, and regardless of consent.

Simply because it believes that some actions need to be more penalized than others, a legislature can impose strict liability upon a defendant. In the instant case, the Legislature knew of the numerous undercover operations involving law enforcement officers and decided to punish more severely those defendants who try to murder the officers who are in the performance of a lawful duty. When a defendant in an undercover operation like in the instant case decides to rob the "seller", the defendant is risking a harsh penalty if the victim turns out to be a law enforcement officer. Maybe this will cause defendants to think twice before committing such actions, and, therefore, some officers will gain even a low level of protection.

Now turning to the exact issues certified by the Fifth's opinion, the Fifth's initial question concerned whether the State could charge attempted murder of a law enforcement officer under

the felony murder statute. As discussed above, if attempted felony murder still exists in Florida, then the offense in the instant case should be able to be charged under the definition of felony murder.

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