**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

OCT 26 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

versus

HAROLD LEONARD GRINAGE,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 84,318

5TH DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 93-1583

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON, PUBLIC DEFENDER  
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRYNN NEWTON  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER  
Florida Bar Number 175150  
112-A Orange Avenue  
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114-4310  
904-252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts, except to add:

Kelly Boaz, the undercover sheriff's deputy, testified that he never saw the knife involved in this case until the instant when, he said, Respondent attempted to stab him with it. Grinage v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at D1763 (Fla. 5th DCA August 19, 1994). (T 193)

A fellow deputy testified that he had worked with Kelly Boaz for about a year and had spoken to others about his character. (T 392, 393, 396) He told the jury that Kelly Boaz does not have a reputation within the law enforcement community for being truthful. Grinage v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at D1763 (Fla. 5th DCA August 19, 1994). (T 395, 398, 418)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: The District Court correctly held that the trial court erred by instructing Respondent's jury that the State was not required to prove that Respondent knew that the complainant was a law enforcement officer in order for Respondent to be convicted of attempted first-degree felony murder of a law enforcement officer. The statute which makes attempted murder of a law enforcement officer a life felony punishable as a capital offense does not clearly state that knowledge of the victim's occupation is not required for conviction and the subsection is part of a statute which otherwise requires scienter in order for a defendant's sentence for offenses against law enforcement officers to be greatly enhanced. The statute is vague because it does not specify whether knowledge is a requirement and it must therefore be construed as requiring scienter.

POINT II: The questions certified to this Honorable Court by the District Court should each be answered in the negative. The felony murder statute is not the proper vehicle for charging attempted murder of a law enforcement officer. Even if Section 783.04(1)(a)2 is an appropriate method for charging attempted murder of a law enforcement officer, proof of a necessary element of the felony underlying the alleged "attempted felony murder of a law enforcement officer" cannot serve also as proof of the overt act necessary to constitute "attempted felony murder." In any event, the information in this case charged nothing more than

aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer and could not sustain a conviction for "attempted felony murder of a law enforcement officer."

POINT III: The crime of "attempted felony murder" has no basis in logic nor is it consistent with the established law of attempts. This Honorable Court is asked to reverse its decision in Amlotte v. State, 456 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1984), and declare that the crime of "attempted felony murder" does not exist in Florida.



ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY AT RESPONDENT'S TRIAL FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE FELONY MURDER OF A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER THAT THE STATE WAS NOT REQUIRED TO PROVE THAT THE ACCUSED KNEW THAT THE COMPLAINANT WAS A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER.

Respondent was charged with "attempted first degree felony murder of a law enforcement officer." (R 120) The amended information alleged that Respondent:

. . . attempt[ed] to murder KELLY BOAZ, a law enforcement officer for the Orange County Sheriff, while said KELLY BOAZ was engaged in the lawful performance of his duty, to-wit: an undercover narcotics investigation, and in furtherance of said attempt HAROLD LEONARD GRINAGE did grab KELLY BOAZ around the neck and did thrust a knife toward the chest or throat area of KELLY BOAZ, an act which could have caused the death of KELLY BOAZ, and which act occurred during the perpetration of an attempted robbery by HAROLD LEONARD GRINAGE of KELLY BOAZ.

(R 120)

Deputy Boaz, who at the time of Respondent's trial had been transferred to road patrol, was working as an undercover narcotics agent on the night of this incident. (T 167, 168, 170, 171, 208, 209) He drove an unmarked automobile, dressed and wore his hair in a fashion calculated to conceal his occupation, and never identified himself as a law enforcement officer. (T 171, 173, 214) Respondent did not know Kelly Boaz was a law

enforcement officer. (T 325, 328)

The prosecution requested and was granted an instruction to the jury that it was not necessary for the State to prove that Respondent knew that Kelly Boaz was a law enforcement officer in order for Respondent to be found guilty of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer. (T 597) Respondent's objections to the jury instruction were overruled and Judge White told the jury:

THE COURT: \* \* \*

In order to convict of first degree felony murder, it is not necessary for the State to prove that the defendant had a premeditated design or intent to kill.

Robbery will be defined for you later.

It is not necessary for the State to prove that Harold Grinage knew that Kelly Boaz was a law enforcement officer.

(T 597, 599, 600, 671) The judge also told the jury that in order to prove "first-degree felony murder of a law enforcement officer," the State would have to show that Respondent did "some act towards committing the crime of first degree felony murder of a law enforcement officer . . . ." (T 670)

Respondent recognizes that the First District Court of Appeal has held, in Carpentier v. State, 587 So. 2d 1355 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), that a defendant's knowledge that the alleged victim is a law enforcement officer is not an element of the offense of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer. See also Isaac v. State, 626 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); and Evans v. State, 625 So. 2d 915 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Respondent

contends, however, that knowledge of the victim's occupation is a necessary element of the crime. The Fifth District Court of Appeal so held:

Grinage urges, and we agree, that before he can be convicted of attempting to murder a police officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty, the State must allege and prove that he knew his victim was a police officer. .

. .

Grinage v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1763, at D1764 (Fla. 5th DCA August 19, 1994).

Section 784.07(3) is a subsection of Section 784.07 which is entitled "Assault or battery of law enforcement officers, firefighters, intake officers, or other specified officers; reclassification of offenses." Section 784.07(3) provides:

(3) Notwithstanding the provisions of any other section, any person who is convicted of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty or who is convicted of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer when the motivation for such attempt was related, all or in part, to the lawful duties of the officer, shall be guilty of a life felony, punishable as provided in s. 775.0825.

Section 775.0825 in turn requires anyone convicted of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer to serve 25 years in prison before becoming eligible for parole.

In Carpentier v. State, supra, the First District Court of Appeal divided Section 784.07(3) into two parts and discerned

logic in concluding that "Part One," the attempted murder of a law enforcement officer engaged in his lawful duties, was a strict liability crime and that "Part Two" by contrast requires proof of mens rea because "Part Two" makes it the same crime even if the officer is not engaged in his duties, if the State can prove that the attempt was motivated by the officer's duties. Respondent asserts that this conclusion is, rather, illogical and that Section 784.07(3) is, at best, vague because it fails to specify whether or not knowledge of the victim's occupation is a requirement. In order for Section 784.07(3) to be lawfully applied, the trier of fact must be required to find knowledge and intent to violate the statute before a conviction can be had. Respondent maintains that "Part Two" of Section 784.07(3) operates only to qualify as a life felony an attempt on an off-duty law enforcement officer's life, and not to add specific intent to the subsection, because that is already required.

Attempted murder of a law enforcement officer is part of the battery on a law enforcement officer statute, and battery on a law enforcement officer is already a specific intent crime because it requires a subjective intent to commit not only simple battery but the more serious offense of battery on a law enforcement officer, i. e., one must know that the victim is a law enforcement officer. Evans v. State, 452 So. 2d 1093 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). It is not logical to eliminate the necessity of proving knowledge for the even greater offense of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer. Likewise, it is not logical

to require knowledge for the attempted murder of an off-duty law enforcement officer, and not require knowledge for the attempted murder of an on-duty, uniformed policeman, whose status is obvious.

The knowledge requirement in Section 784.07(2) (assault or battery on a law enforcement officer) suggests that an increase in a prison sentence should be based on something a defendant intended to do. Carpentier holds instead that the penalty for an act can be vastly enhanced on the basis of a fact that the defendant knows nothing about. There is no reason for assuming a lesser proof requirement for the greater offense of attempted murder than for assault or battery.

Because the Legislature did not specify that there is no knowledge requirement under Section 784.07(3), it is not clear that the Legislature intended to eliminate scienter for attempted murder of a law enforcement officer. The statute must be read with consideration of the other provisions in Chapter 784, all of which point to a knowledge requirement. The language, "Notwithstanding the provisions of any other section," refers to other penalty provisions, such as Sections 775.082 and 921.001, which might otherwise indicate that Section 784.07(3) is less than a life felony or may be punished by less than a sentence of life and a mandatory minimum term of 25 years.

The State of Florida provides in its brief examples of why it should not be presumed that Section 784.07(2)(a)2 requires no

proof of scienter<sup>1</sup>. In State v. Sorakrai, 543 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), the Second District Court of Appeal found that the statute prohibiting lewd and lascivious conduct does not require the defendant to know that the victim was under the age 16, because its elements were dependent upon the sexual battery statute which provides that ignorance of a victim's age is no defense. ss. 800.04, 794.021, Fla. Stat. (1993). The statute under which Respondent was prosecuted, however, does not eliminate the need for proof that he at least had knowledge of the element which made the charged crime so serious, and the subsection of the statute upon which his prosecution was dependent (Section 784.07(2)) does require such knowledge. The District Court wrote:

While the "knowingly committing" language [of Section 784.07(2)] is not repeated in subsection (3), it is replaced by the legally equivalent word "attempted." As Justice Overton observed in his dissenting opinion in Amlotte v. State, 456 So. 2d 448, 450 (Fla. 1984), "A conviction for the offense of attempt has always required proof of the intent to commit the underlying crime." Here the underlying crime is "the murder of a police officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty." How could Grinage have intended to

<sup>1</sup> "Another example can be seen in section 794.021, Fla. Statutes (1993), which deals with sexual battery. The statute provides that whenever the issue arises as to a victim being under a certain age the defendant cannot argue mistaken belief, ignorance, or even misrepresentation. See also, State v. Sorakrai, 543 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), (which applied the same requirement to section 800.04(2)). . . ." (Pages 13-14, Petitioner's Brief on the Merits.) (Emphasis supplied.)

murder (felony or otherwise) a "law enforcement officer . . . engaged in the lawful performance of his duty," if he did not know that Boaz was, in fact, a police officer? We agree that the court erred in instructing the jury that the State was not required to prove such knowledge.

Grinage v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at D1764. (Emphasis in original).

The concept of felony murder itself has been stretched beyond logic already by the judicial creation in Florida of the crime of "attempted felony murder," an offense which most other states have rejected as "logically impossible." See Amlotte v. State, 456 So. 2d 448, 450 (Fla. 1984) (Justice Overton, dissenting). Felony murder is a statutorily created brand of murder whose underlying commission of a felony substitutes for the proof of premeditation, *i. e.*, intent, that would otherwise be necessary. See s. 782.04(1)(a)2., Fla. Stat. (1993). To this legal fiction, that premeditation for murder is supplied by an underlying felony, the State asked Respondent's trial judge to add an instruction that the State did not need to prove any knowledge of the crucial fact that would aggravate attempted murder to a life felony subject to a capital sentence.

When considering whether to authorize the enhancement of a defendant's sentence via a sentencing guidelines departure, other District Courts have presumed the necessity of knowledge as a factor to justify the increased punishment. In Viera v. State, 532 So. 2d 743 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), wherein the defendant was convicted of attempted first-degree murder, the victim was an

out-of-uniform police officer. The District Court approved the victim's status as a law enforcement officer as a grounds for departure because Viera knew she was a police officer:

. . . We reject Viera's argument that because he did not know at the outset that his intended victim was a police officer, his departure sentence cannot stand. Viera knew before the shooting and struggle that the victim was a police officer. Under these circumstances, the fact that the victim was a police officer was a valid reason for departure. Garza v. State, 518 So. 2d 978 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); Baker v. State, 466 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), aff'd, 483 So. 2d 423 (Fla. 1986). Baker established that a defendant "who chooses to make a police officer acting in the line of duty the victim of his crime is to be treated differently than a defendant who commits the same crime upon an ordinary citizen." 466 So. 2d at 1146. The trial court's imposition of the departure sentence was not founded on Viera's ignorance of the victim's occupation when he first approached her, but rather, upon Viera's commission of the offense of attempted murder of a police officer. The first reason for departure was, therefore, proper.

Viera, 523 So. 2d at 745. (Emphasis supplied.) Baker v. State, in turn, had relied on the fact that Baker knew his victim was a police officer and cited Smith v. State, 682 P. 2d 1125 (Alaska Ct. App. 1984) which held that where the sentencing guidelines statute specified, as an aggravating factor justifying a non-presumptive sentence, the fact that the defendant knowingly directed the conduct constituting the offense at, among others, a



law enforcement officer, a sentence in excess of the presumptive sentence would be upheld.

The Legislature did not make it clear in Section 784.07(3) that no proof of knowledge is required in order to prove attempted murder of a law enforcement officer. In this regard, the Fifth District Court of Appeal noted that the holding in State v. Medlin, 273 So. 2d 394, 396 (Fla. 1973), which was that the legislative denunciation of an act as criminal does not require the State to prove that the commission of the act was done with criminal intent, is inconsistent with the United States Supreme Court's recent holding on the subject. Grinage v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1763, 1765 (Fla. 5th DCA August 19, 1994). In Staples v. United States, 511 U. S. \_\_\_, 128 L. Ed. 2d 608, 114 S. Ct. 1793 (1994), the Supreme Court held that in order to be guilty of violating the National Firearms Act, someone accused of possessing an illegal firearm must **know** that the rifle had the characteristics that made it illegal. Among the reasons for the holding was that the statute was silent concerning the mens rea element and, equally pertinent to this case, "The potentially harsh penalty attached to violation of [the National Firearms Act]--up to 10 years' imprisonment--confirms our reading of the Act." Id., 128 L. Ed. 2d at 623. The Supreme Court wrote:

. . . Historically, the penalty imposed under a statute has been a significant consideration in determining whether the statute should be construed as dispensing with mens rea. Certainly, the cases that first defined the concept of the public welfare offense almost

uniformly involved statutes that provided for only light penalties such as fines or short jail sentences, not imprisonment in the state penitentiary. . . .

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